### No. S 199119

#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

GIL SANCHEZ,

Plaintiff and Respondent

VS.

VALENCIA HOLDING COMPANY, LLC,

Defendants and Appellant.

B228027

(Los Angeles County Super. Ct. No. BC433634)

> SUPREME COURT FILED

> > JAN 04 2012

Frederick K. Ohlrich Clerk

Deputy

PETITION FOR REVIEW

California Court of Appeal, Second District, Division One Case No. B228027 Los Angeles Superior Court Case No. BC433634 Honorable Rex Heeseman

THARPE & HOWELL, LLP

Christopher S. Maile (Bar No. 117998) Soojin Kang (Bar No. 219738) Gerald Siegel (Bar No. 75037) 15250 Ventura Boulevard, 9th Floor Sherman Oaks, California 91403-3221 Telephone: (818) 205-9955

#### INTRODUCTION

The Court of Appeal held unenforceable as substantively unconscionable the arbitration provision in a standard auto dealer sales contract used by many of the over 1,200 dealerships throughout the State in a substantial portion of the million-plus new and dealer used car transactions yearly. The broad impact of that decision on California small and medium sized businesses and consumers alone warrants this Court's attention.

But the issues presented are even broader than that. From a legal perspective the fundamental question is the reach of AT&T Mobility v.

Concepcion (2011) 563 U.S. \_\_\_ [131 S.Ct. 1740] in restraining California courts in invalidating arbitration provisions as substantively unconscionable. Concepcion would appear to bar a court from striking, as the Court of Appeal did here, facially neutral procedures and processes agreed to by the parties as tailored to the particular type of transaction. The Court of Appeal here invalidated the arbitration provision because, in hindsight, it judged the parties' agreed-upon procedures and processes as not as "fair" as (or "harsher" than) it would have liked. It engaged in just the sort of sweeping, detailed, dissection of arbitration terms that is contrary to both Concepcion's express language and its spirit.

The Court of Appeal sidestepped *Concepcion* by reading it as having no impact beyond arbitral class action waivers. Other courts have disagreed with such a reading. Already, the scope of *Concepcion* is engendering conflict in decisional law.

Along those lines is the conflict in authorities over whether Concepcion has superseded Broughton v. Cigna Health Plans of Cal. (1999) 21 Cal.4th 1066 and Cruz v. PacifiCare Health Systems, Inc. (2003) 30 Cal.4th 303, regarding the non-arbitrability of statutory injunction actions. Recognizing continuing Broughton-Cruz vitality, the Opinion here held that those decisions, at a minimum, inform and support a substantive unconscionability determination.

But even were *Concepcion*'s impact not at issue, review would be necessary. The Court of Appeal's opinion is groundbreaking in holding an evenhanded, tailored arbitration provision substantively unconscionable. Without any prior trial court ruling, it conducted a searching after-the-fact fairness inquiry into facially neutral terms. The provision allowed for an internal arbitral appeal of awards greater than \$100,000 and for injunctive relief, but at the same time it afforded the same appeal right for a \$0 award. In the context of automobile purchase disputes, most disputes would fall well within the \$0 to \$100,000 first level arbitration range. The provision, thus, allowed only an appeal of *outlier* awards affecting *either* party. It excluded self-help remedies from arbitration (something only two of the three justices found problematic) but it also excluded small claims court cases, a benefit to consumers.

Unless the rule is that consumer arbitration must be full, one-shot, arbitration of all possible issues at no expense to the consumer – a rule that *Concepcion* undoubtedly rejects – the question arises of where is the line of what is allowable or not? If this provision's process is invalid, what other

process short of a *Concepcion*-barred all-or-nothing requirement can suffice? Businesses throughout this State (from the more than a 1,200 new car dealers to thousands of other businesses) are entitled to know what arbitration provisions short of all-or-nothing arbitration of all issues can be enforceably entered into. Does this one Court of Appeal opinion, indeed, vacate millions of arbitration clauses and foreclose future use of that provision when other courts have validated it?

The uncertainty created by the Court of Appeal's decision is compounded here by significant issues regarding the appropriate appellate role. The Court of Appeal made its unconscionability and no-severance findings without the trial court ever having passed on the issues or having made any predicate factual findings or having exercised any discretion. In addition to unconscionability, it found that as a matter of law no court could find severability even though this Court has found severability in a remarkably similar instance. That process raises serious issues – and conflicting appellate approaches – about the proper roles of trial and appellate courts in addressing unconscionability and severability.

Review should be granted. This Court needs to resolve the post-Concepcion California substantive unconscionability standard for attacks on arbitration provisions beyond class action waivers. And, it needs to provide guidance as to just when and how businesses can tailor arbitration provisions to their particular circumstances. Until it does so, confusion will reign, both judicially and in the business community. Alternatively, review should be granted and the case held pending the outcome in *Sonic-Calabasas A, Inc. v. Moreno*, No. S174475.

#### **ISSUES FOR REVIEW**

- 1. Does AT&T Mobility v. Concepcion (2011) 563 U.S. \_\_\_ [131 S.Ct. 1740], constrain California courts outside of the class action waiver context in passing, under the guise of substantive unconscionability, on the procedures and processes that the parties have chosen in tailoring an arbitration provision to particular types of disputes? Must such arbitration procedures afford exact equality of procedural advantage to all parties in all cases? This issue is directly related to that pending before this Court on remand from the United States Supreme Court in Sonic-Calabasas A, Inc. v. Moreno, No. S174475.
- 2. Has AT&T Mobility v. Concepcion (2011) 563 U.S. \_\_\_ [131 S.Ct. 1740], displaced the bar to arbitration of statutory injunctive claims in Broughton v. Cigna Healthplans of Cal. (1999) 21 Cal.4th 1066, and Cruz v. PacifiCare Health Systems, Inc. (2003) 30 Cal.4th 303, as several federal district courts have held or does the Broughton-Cruz bar to statutory injunctive relief arbitration retain vitality after Concepcion, as the Court of Appeal here appears to have assumed and two federal district courts have held?
- 3. Is the arbitration provision in the standard auto sales contract unconscionable, as a matter of law, (A) whenever a plaintiff claims to have not read it even though the contract, on its face, just above a signature line in all capital letters references an arbitration provision set out in a large box

on the back of the one-page document and (B) because (1) it allows for an internal arbitral appeal process for extreme, outlier bilateral results (\$0, >\$100,000, injunctive relief), (2) requires the losing party to advance the costs of an internal arbitral appeal, and (3) excludes from arbitral issues self-help relief that, by definition, is not part of any court process? In that regard, the present Opinion's unconscionability holding would appear to be at odds with *Arguelles-Romero v. Superior Court* (2010) 184 Cal.App.4th 825, 831, fn. 4, 845, fn. 21, which addressed the *identical* provision, finding it "clearly bilateral, and not unconscionable."

4. Where the trial court has never passed on unconscionability or severability, can the appellate court determine those issues in the first instance (as in this case) or is remand to the trial court required for it to find facts and exercise its discretion in the first instance as held in *Brown v*. *Ralphs Grocery Co.* (2011) 197 Cal.App.4th 489, 504? The Court of Appeal's decision here is in direct conflict with *Brown* on this score. It also appears at odds with *Little v. Auto-Steigler, Inc.* (2003) 29 Cal.4th 1064, which found a comparable internal arbitration appeal mechanism severable and *Arguelles-Romero v. Superior Court* (2010) 184 Cal.App.4th 825, which found the same small claims/self-help exception bilateral and not unconscionable.

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

#### A. The Complaint.

Plaintiff Gil Sanchez alleges that he bought a "certified" used Mercedes Benz for just under \$54,000. (Opn. at 3-4.) He alleges various problems with the transaction, from representations made to fees charged to the actual condition of the vehicle. (*Ibid.*) He filed suit purporting to allege a class-action seeking damages, rescission, civil penalties, punitive damages and attorneys fees. (*Id.* at 5-6.)<sup>1</sup>

#### **B.** The Sale Contract.

In purchasing the vehicle, Sanchez executed a standard, preprinted Retail Installment Sale Contract. (*Id.* at 3-4.) The contract form was produced by an industry source, not the individual dealership. (*Id.* at 4, fn. 2.) The contract is 26 inches long by a standard 8½ inches wide, printed on both sides. (*Id.* at 8.) Statutorily required language and font size accounts for 24 inches of that length (back and front). (California Attorney General Opinion 08-804, 92 Ops.Cal.Atty.Gen. 97 1 at \*2-3 (2009); Rehearing Petn. at 3.)

Plaintiff signed the document multiple times on the front of the contract. (Opn. at 8.) Above one set of signature lines (for both "buyer" and "co-buyer") is a box notice of "No Cooling-Off Period" and next to it,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> As unconscionability is determined at the time of contracting (Civ. Code, § 1670.5), the specifics of plaintiff's claim are irrelevant at this juncture.

in all capitals, the following language acknowledging the arbitration provision:

"YOU AGREE TO THE TERMS OF THIS CONTRACT. YOU CONFIRM THAT BEFORE YOU SIGNED THIS CONTRACT, WE GAVE IT TO YOU, AND YOU WERE FREE TO TAKE IT AND REVIEW IT. YOU ACKNOWLEDGE THAT YOU HAVE READ BOTH SIDES OF THIS CONTRACT, INCLUDING THE ARBITRATION CLAUSE ON THE REVERSE SIDE, BEFORE SIGNING BELOW. YOU CONFIRM THAT YOU RECEIVED A COMPLETELY FILLED-IN COPY WHEN YOU SIGNED IT"

(AA 276; see Opn. at 18; Rehearing Petn. at 1-2.) A replica copy of the contract (submitted to the Court of Appeal at its request) appears as Appendix C to this petition. (See Docket, No. B228027, entry dated November 16, 2011.)

#### C. The Arbitration Provision.

The referenced arbitration provision appears on the back of the contract in a large black box. (Opn. at 8; App. C.) The arbitration provision calls for binding arbitration before a single arbitrator (required to be attorneys or retired judges) under the auspices of two nationally recognized organizations (one of which later withdrew from consumer arbitrations) *or* any other organization chosen by the consumer (subject to the dealer's approval). (Opn. at 6-7 & 8, fn. 3.) Self-help remedies (e.g., repossession) and small claims actions are excluded from arbitration. (*Id.*)

at 7.) Class-action arbitration is waived. (*Ibid.*) The dealer is to advance up to \$2,500 of the buyer's initial arbitration fees. (*Ibid.*)

In the event of an arbitration award of (a) \$0, (b) in excess of \$100,000, or (c) for injunctive relief, the aggrieved party may obtain a new three-person arbitration. (*Ibid.*) The "appealing" party is to initially bear the expense of the new arbitration round (subject to the three-person panel's ultimate allocation). (*Ibid.*)

The arbitration provision makes severable any unenforceable portion, other than the class action waiver. (App. C.)

#### D. The Motion To Compel Arbitration.

Petitioner Valencia Holding Company, LLC moved to compel arbitration. (Opn. at 6.) In opposing arbitration, plaintiff claimed (contrary to the representation in the contract itself) that he did not read the contract before signing it, that he was unaware that there was an arbitration provision on the back of the contract, and that no one at the dealership had pointed out the arbitration provision to him. (Opn. at 9.)

# E. The Trial Court Refuses To Compel Arbitration Because Of The Class-Action Waiver.

The trial court denied the motion to compel arbitration because of the class-action waiver provision, relying on *Fisher v. DCH Temecula Imports LLC* (2010) 187 Cal.App.4th 601, which, in turn, relied on *Discover Bank v. Superior Court* (2005) 36 Cal.4th 148. (Opn. at 10;

App. B.) The trial court did not reach the issues of unconscionability or severability. (App. B; Rehearing Petn. at 10-11.)

# F. The Court of Appeal Affirms On A Different Ground: Unconscionability.

In the wake of *AT&T Mobility LLC v. Concepcion* (2011) 563

U.S. \_\_\_\_ [131 S.Ct. 1740], overruling *Discover Bank v. Superior Court* (2005) 36 Cal.4th 148, the Court of Appeal did not address the class-action waiver ground relied upon by the trial court. Instead, it affirmed in a published opinion on a different ground, unconscionability. (Opn. at 11.)

Concepcion. The Opinion read Concepcion as limited to the application of the unconscionability doctrine "to class-action waivers in arbitration agreements" and to States "[r]equiring the availability of classwide arbitration . . . . " (Id. at 12, quoting Concepcion, 131 S.Ct. at pp. 1746 & 1748, italics added by Court of Appeal.) According to the Court of Appeal, "[w]ith the exception of the Discover Bank rule, the court acknowledged in Concepcion that the doctrine of unconscionability remains a basis for invalidating arbitration provisions." (Opn. at 12.) Thus, per the Court of Appeal, Concepcion did not change that yardstick by which substantive unconscionability is measured for arbitration agreements governed by the Federal Arbitration Act but rather carved out one, narrow exception – class-action waivers – to States' broad unconscionability powers to disapprove arbitration provisions.

De Novo Appellate Unconscionability Determination. The Court of Appeal then proceeded to analyze the arbitration agreement, de novo, for unconscionability. It held that it could "resolve [unconscionability] in the first instance, without remand to the trial court" to have an initial opportunity to pass on the issue. (Opn. at 10.) It reasoned that "[w]hether an arbitration provision is unconscionable is ultimately a question of law.... On appeal, when the extrinsic evidence is undisputed, as it is here, we review the contract de novo to determine unconscionability." (Opn. at 10, internal quotation marks and citations omitted.) The Court of Appeal viewed plaintiff's bare assertion that he had not read the contract or been aware of the arbitration provision as undisputed despite the conflicting representation immediately preceding his signature. (See Rehearing Petn. at 11.)

Procedural Unconscionability. The Court of Appeal majority found procedural unconscionability as a matter of law premised upon the facts that (1) the contract was long, (2) the plaintiff claimed not to have read the agreement that he signed and (3) the front-of-the-form, large, all-capital-letters reference to the arbitration provision (which is in a distinctive box on the back of the long form) is to the right of the "no cooling off period" box, immediately over any co-buyer's signature. (Opn. at 15-18.)

Substantive Unconscionabilty. Turning to substantive unconscionability, the Court of Appeal majority found such from what it viewed as an overly harsh or one-sided arbitration process. Specifically, the Court of Appeal majority found fault with (1) the fact that either party could

"appeal" to a three-arbitrator rearbitration if the award exceeded \$100,000, was for \$0, or included injunctive relief, (2) that any "appealing" party seeking such a rearbitration had to bear the initial cost of such a second round without a mechanism for waiving such fees and (3) *self*-help remedies not being subject to arbitration. (Opn. at 18-30.) The Court of Appeal further found the provision unconscionable in requiring arbitration of Consumers Legal Remedies Act injunctive relief. (Opn. 28-30.)

Severance. Finally, the Court of Appeal majority held that it could determine de novo that the supposedly offending provisions could not be severed. It recognized that severance is an issue that is within the trial court's discretion such that the appellate court "typically would remand the case to the trial court, allowing it, as a discretionary matter, to decide whether the doctrine of severability should apply." (Opn. at 32, citing Armendariz v. Foundation Health Psychcare Services, Inc. (2000) 24 Cal.4th 83, 122, 124.) It decided, however, that "it would be pointless to remand the case when only one outcome is proper." (Opn. at 32.) It concluded that it would be impossible to strike the offending portions of the arbitration agreement because, to be valid, any arbitration agreement must "establish a procedure or criteria for determining how much [a consumer] can afford" before admitting even the prospect that the consumer may bear arbitration fees. (Opn. at 31.)

The Concurring Opinion. Justice Rothschild concurred. She found procedural unconscionability, more broadly than the majority, from the mere fact that the contract is one of adhesion. On the other hand, she

limited the basis for substantive unconscionability to her view that "(1) the provision making monetary awards of exactly \$0 or more than \$100,000 appealable is unfairly one-sided; and (2) the provision requiring the appealing party to advance all costs of the appeal is unfairly one-sided." (Opn., Rothschild, J., concurring at 1.)

# G. The Court of Appeal Grants Rehearing On Its OwnMotion Issuing The Current Opinion.

Petitioner sought rehearing. The Court of Appeal denied the rehearing petition but granted rehearing on its own motion, issuing the current published opinion, modified from the original opinion in multiple respects, on November 23, 2011.

#### WHY REVIEW IS NECESSARY

I. Whether AT&T Mobility v. Concepcion (2011) 563 U.S. \_\_\_\_\_
[131 S.Ct. 1740] Restrains California Courts From
Declaring Arbitration Clauses Substantively
Unconscionable Beyond The Class-Action Waiver Context
(The Opinion Holds That It Does Not) Presents An
Important, Unresolved Issue Posing An Already Nascent
Danger Of Conflicting Authority.

The Opinion here undertakes a searching, exhaustive dissection of the agreed-upon arbitration procedures to determine if some circumstance might plausibly exist whereby the party opposing arbitration might be at a tactical disadvantage. In doing so, the Court of Appeal majority finds fault with four arbitration-process specific details – (1) the potential for a party on the wrong end of a \$100,000 single arbitrator award to appeal to a three arbitrator review panel (the party on the wrong end of a \$0 award has the same right), (2) the same internal arbitral appeal right as to an award of injunctive relief, (3) that the party so "appealing" has to initially pay the additional arbitration expense, at least without a mechanism for waiving such fees and (4) the exclusion of self-help remedies from arbitration. (Opn. at 18-19.) Concurring Justice Rothschild agreed only as to first and third points. In either event, though, the unconscionability analysis was a searching review of how the parties had tailored the arbitration process.

In AT&T Mobility v. Concepcion (2011) 563 U.S. \_\_\_ [131 S.Ct.1740], the United States Supreme Court disapproved just such judicial

vetting of the precise arbitration procedures agreed upon by the parties. Concepcion specifically disapproved this Court's holding in Discover Bank v. Superior Court, supra, 36 Cal.4th 148, which had found the waiver of a class action in arbitration to be unconscionable. Concepcion held that courts cannot under the guise of substantive unconscionability judicially negate the "parties['] discretion in designing arbitration processes . . . to allow for efficient, streamlined procedures tailored to the type of dispute." (131 S.Ct. at p. 1749, emphasis added.) Concepcion, at heart, rejects the idea that courts can use substantive unconscionability as a mechanism to void arbitration provisions based on the process agreed upon by the parties. (See id. at p. 1747, citing Broome, An Unconscionable Application of the Unconscionability Doctrine: How the California Courts are Circumventing the Federal Arbitration Act (2006) 3 Hastings Bus. L. J. 39; see also 131 S.Ct. at pp. 1753, 1754-1755 (conc. opn. of Thomas, J.) [defenses to arbitration limited to fraud or duress, i.e., *not* including unconscionability].) At a minimum, Concepcion creates a strong presumption that the particular procedures agreed to by the parties are to be honored. (See id. at pp. 1748-1749.)

Concepcion reaffirms that "[t]he 'principal purpose' of the FAA is to 'ensur[e] that private arbitration agreements are enforced according to their terms.' [Citations.] . . . [In that regard,] parties may agree to limit the issues subject to arbitration, [citation], to arbitrate according to specific rules, [citation], and to limit with whom a party will arbitrate its disputes, [citation]." (Id. at pp. 1748-1749, emphasis added.) In particular,

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