### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

GIL SANCHEZ,

V.

Plaintiff and Respondent,

VALENCIA HOLDING COMPANY, LLC dba MERCEDES-BENZ OF VALENCIA,

Defendants and Appellant,

B228027

(Los Angeles County Superior Court No. B433634)



JAN 2 5 2012

Froderick K. Ohlrish Clark

Deputy

California Court of Appeal, Second District, Division One Case No. B228027 Los Angeles Superior Court Case No. BC433634 Honorable Rex Heeseman

#### ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

#### ROSNER, BARRY & BABBITT, LLP

Hallen D. Rosner (Bar No. 109740) Christopher P. Barry (Bar No. 179308) Angela J. Smith (Bar No. 216876) 10085 Carroll Canyon Road, Ste.100 San Diego, California 92131 (858) 348-1005

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

#### III. Why Review Should Be Denied

A. The United States Supreme Court Affirmed

Unconscionability Is a Contract Defense to the

Enforceability of an Arbitration Clause, and the Court of

Appeal Engaged in the Proper Analysis

Are arbitration clauses above the law? That is where arbitration jurisprudence is headed, and it is a question Petitioner, the amici curiae, and businesses across the United States want courts to answer in the affirmative. Businesses want free reign to put whatever terms they want in arbitration clauses and the freedom to force their customers who purchase their products to sacrifice the protections the law affords.

The FAA, however, does not give businesses the freedom to trample consumer rights by drafting arbitration clauses that would not be enforceable were they contracts covering a subject other than arbitration. If an equitable doctrine or legal standard exists to revoke any contract, then that same doctrine or standard must be applied to a contract to arbitrate disputes. That is what the Court of Appeal did here, and its ruling is consistent with the United States Supreme Court's ruling in *Concepcion* and any other Supreme Court case.

In *Concepcion*, the Supreme Court addressed the question of "whether the FAA prohibits States from conditioning the enforceability of certain arbitration agreements on the availability of classwide arbitration procedures." (*Concepcion*, 131 S.Ct. at 1744.) The Supreme Court reminded everyone that "courts must place arbitration agreements on *an equal footing* with other contracts . . . ." (*Id.*, at 1745 (citation omitted).) The *Discover Bank* rule at issue was a specific rule created by this Court addressing class action waiver clauses in arbitration agreements found in consumer contracts of adhesion and holding that such waivers are unconscionable if they operate to shield businesses from group liability. (*See id.* at 1746.) According to *Concepcion*, the *Discover Bank* rule did not put arbitration agreements on equal footing, it was a special rule just for arbitration clauses. As such, the *Discover Bank* rule

did derive its meaning from the fact an agreement to arbitrate was at issue. Furthermore, by striking the class action waiver in an arbitration clause, the *Discover Bank* rule fundamentally altered the agreement of the parties by requiring them to agree to class arbitration. (*Id.*, at 1748 ("Requiring the availability of classwide arbitration interferes with the fundamental attributes of arbitration and thus creates a scheme inconsistent with the FAA.").) In a great deal of dicta, the United States Supreme Court denounced class arbitration as a dispute resolution process generally. (*Id.*, at 1750-53.)

The Court of Appeal in this case described the "general principles of unconscionability." (Sanchez v. Valencia Holding Co., LLC (2011) 201 Cal.App.4th 74, 2011 WL 5865694, at \*6-7.) The Court of Appeal cited Concepcion for the standard that "the doctrine of unconscionability remains a basis for invalidating arbitration provisions . . . ." (Id., 2011 WL 5865694, at \*8.) Next, the Court of Appeal concluded "Concepcion is inapplicable where, as here, we are not addressing the enforceability of a class action waiver or a judicially imposed procedure that is inconsistent with the arbitration provision and the purposes of the Federal Arbitration Act." (Id., 2011 WL 5865694, at \*8.) Finally, the Court of Appeal reiterated that "the unconscionability principles on which we rely govern all contracts, are not unique to arbitration agreements, and do not disfavor arbitration." (Ibid.

(italics in original).)

The explanation and analysis provided by the Court of Appeal is not inconsistent with the U.S. Supreme Court's opinion in *Concepcion*. Rather, it treats the arbitration clause on the back of Petitioner's sale contracts the same way it would treat any other contractual clause to determine whether it was unconscionable. There are still limits to what can be put in a contract, and the Court of Appeal's decision merely places those same limits on arbitration clauses such that they are placed on "equal footing" with other contracts.

While defense attorneys may, not surprisingly, post diatribes on their blogs voicing their unhappiness with the Court of Appeal's analysis in this case, the truth of the matter is the Court of Appeal examined a poorly-written, one-sided arbitration clause, and found it was unconscionable under the general contract defense of unconscionability. It was a far cry from the consumer-friendly arbitration clause drafted by AT&T that was at issue in *Concepcion*. (*Concepcion*, 131 S.Ct. at 1744 ("the arbitration agreement provides that AT&T will pay claimants a minimum of \$7,500 and twice their attorney's fees if they obtain an arbitration award greater than AT&T's last settlement offer").) The unconscionability analysis engaged in by the Court of Appeal in this case was the same analysis engaged in by other Court of Appeal panels in recent cases addressing other, non-arbitration contractual

clauses for unconscionability. (*Lona v. Citibank, N.A.* (2011) \_\_\_ Cal.App.4th\_\_, 2011 WL 6391584, \*10-13 (applying unconscionability test from *Armendariz* to the pricing terms of a mortgage); *Lanigan v. City of Los Angeles* (2011) 199 Cal.App.4th 1020, 1035-37 (applying unconscionability test from *Armendariz* to terms of a settlement agreement).)

The Court of Appeal's opinion does not result in an arbitration inconsistent with the terms of the arbitration clause or the purposes of the FAA. Rather, the Second District held a valid agreement to arbitrate was not reached here because the terms were too one-sided, just like the Sixth District held a valid loan agreement was not reached where the terms were too onesided. (See Lona, 2011 WL 6391584, \*14.) The Court of Appeal in this case, the Sixth District in Lona, and the Second District in Lanigan v. City of Los Angeles (2011) 199 Cal.App.4th 1020, 1035-37, all applied the same unconscionability test. The Court of Appeal in this case did not ignore Concepcion any more than the Lona court or the Lanigan court did. Unconscionability remains a general contract defense which is being applied in a consistent manner by the Court of Appeal in all cases in California. Contrary to Petitioner's claim, courts presented with this arbitration clause will not need to "stumble" through the analysis. There is sufficient, consistent law applying the unconscionability analysis to California contracts in a coherent manner. Consistent with the application of the defense of unconscionability by the California Court of Appeal in both arbitration and non-arbitration clauses, the clause at issue here is unconscionable and unenforceable. And that should be the end of the story.

# B. This Court's Decisions in *Broughton* and *Cruz* Regarding the Arbitrability of Claims for Injunctive Relief Are Not Determinative Issues in the Court of Appeal's Opinion

The Court of Appeal's citation to *Broughton v. Cigna Healthplans* (1999) 21 Cal.4th 1066, is not for the holding that claims for injunctive relief under the CLRA are not subject to arbitration. Rather, Justice Mallano cited to *Broughton* for its analysis on why claims for injunctive relief are ill-suited for arbitration. The actual holding in *Sanchez*, however, was that the arbitration clause was unconscionable because the clause exempted self-help remedies from arbitration while subjecting claims for injunctive relief to arbitration. The point is that the clause was unjustifiably one-sided – why exclude the dealership/drafting party's primary remedy from arbitration while forcing an important consumer remedy to arbitration? Whether *Broughton* and *Cruz v. PacifiCare Health Systems, Inc.* (2003) 30 Cal.4th 303, are pre-empted by the FAA does not change whether Petitioner's arbitration clause "creates an unduly oppressive distinction in remedies." (*Sanchez*, 2011 WL 5865694,

at \*18.)

This distinction is noted by the Court of Appeal. (*Id.*, 2011 WL 5865694, at 19, n. 6.) The question answered by the Court of Appeal here was not whether claims for injunctive relief under the CLRA and/or UCL can be subject to arbitration. The question answered was whether a car dealer can exempt its own claims from arbitration while forcing the consumer's claims to arbitration. The answer was an unequivocal "No." And that answer has nothing to do with whether the consumer's claims are for injunctive relief under the CLRA or the UCL.

The Court of Appeal's opinion is not a part of the "recipe for confusion and inconsistency" Petitioner claims exists. The Court of Appeal's decision does not "stand as an obstacle to the accomplishment of the FAA's objectives." (See Concepcion, 131 S.Ct. at 1753.) Rather, the Court of Appeal engaged in standard unconscionability analysis under California law and reached the proper conclusion it is unconscionable to impose these terms on a consumer.

This case is not the proper vessel for this Court to determine whether its decisions in *Broughton* and *Cruz* are pre-empted by the FAA. While all of the decisions involve the applicability of general contractual rules in the context of arbitration contracts, that is where the similarities end. *Broughton* 

and *Cruz* are cases involving whether certain claims (for injunctive relief), as a general rule, can be arbitrated. This case involves whether a certain clause, which, among other problems, permits the drafting party to exclude its claims from arbitration while requiring the other party to arbitrate all of their claims, is enforceable. Accordingly, review of the rule applied by the Court of Appeal in this case will not impact the continuing validity of the rule in *Cruz* and *Broughton*, and vice-versa.

C. There Is No Dispute Between the Appellate Courts to

Resolve – the Arbitration Clause On the Back of California

Vehicle Contracts is Unconscionable

Petitioner, and the amici, are asking this Court to sponsor a "race to the bottom." Just how unfair can businesses make their arbitration clauses, and then have courts approve the process under the "liberal federal policy favoring arbitration"? (*Concepcion*, 131 S.Ct. at 1745 (citation omitted).) As noted above, *Concepcion* involved an arbitration clause that, while it included a class action waiver, provided numerous other protections to consumers. It did not, as Petitioner's clause does here, tip the scales in AT&T's favor to make arbitration a weapon rather than a fair alternative dispute resolution mechanism. Whereas AT&T agreed to pay all costs, permitted the consumer venue and procedure options, prevented AT&T from seeking its attorney's

fees, permitted the arbitrator to enter injunctions, and guaranteed the consumer \$7,500 and double his or her attorney's fees if the consumer received an award greater than AT&T's final settlement offer (see Concepcion, 131 S.Ct. at 1744), Petitioner's clause provides none of those equities to consumers. Instead, costs and attorney's fees can be allocated by the arbitrator. If Petitioner thinks the award is too high, or does not like an injunction, then Petitioner can ask for a new arbitration. Moreover, under AT&T's contract with its customers, there was a pre-arbitration dispute resolution process designed to avoid arbitration. (*Ibid.*) Petitioner's arbitration clause lets it veto consumer lawsuits while excluding its own claims from arbitration.

The similarities between the arbitration clauses in *Concepcion* and this case pretty much end with the word "arbitration." That is why the clause was unconscionable in this case. And contrary to Petitioner's claim, this case does not "directly conflict" with the opinion in *Arguelles-Romero v. Superior Court* (2010) 184 Cal.App.4th 825. In *Arguelles-Romero*, the consumer sought "to establish substantive unconscionability under the spirit, if not the precise analysis, of *Discover Bank*." (*Id.*, at 844.) To that end, the Court of Appeal concluded "plaintiffs have not established the prerequisite to their theory of substantive unconscionability—that the claims are so small that a class action is the only viable means of enforcement." (*Id.*) In a footnote, the *Arguelles-*

Romero court then noted the plaintiffs made an argument in their **reply** brief the arbitration clause is not bilateral. (*Id.*, at 845, n. 21.) The sole argument made by the plaintiffs was that if they were sued for a post-repossession deficiency, they could not compel arbitration. (*Id.*) The *Arguelles-Romerro* court rejected that argument because the arbitration clause said either side could initiate an arbitration. (*Id.*)

The limited determination in *Arguelles-Romero*, that the arbitration clause permitted either side to initiate an arbitration, is not in conflict with the Court of Appeal's decision in this case. The Court of Appeal did not conclude this clause was unconscionable because only one side could initiate an arbitration. Rather, this decision was based, in part, on the one-sidedness of the claims which could be pursued in arbitration once initiated because the clause excludes the dealer's primary claims from the arbitration process while forcing the consumer to arbitrate their claims. (*Sanchez*, 2011 WL 5865694, at \*18.) This issue was not presented to, nor decided by, the *Arguelles-Romero* court. Nor were any of the other three reasons relied upon by the *Sanchez* court even raised in *Arguelles-Romero* for consideration.

Finally, Petitioner's contention that courts will not enforce consumer arbitration clauses is grossly inaccurate. One need look no further than the case of *Crippen v. Central Valley RV Outlet, Inc.* (2004) 124 Cal.App.4th

1159. In *Crippen*, the Court of Appeal held the consumer, who purchased a recreational vehicle from the defendant, failed to establish procedural unconscionability. Notably, "[t]he Arbitration Addendum was not set in small type or hidden in a prolix form. It was printed on a separate page, in ordinary type, with "Arbitration Addendum" at the top, and was signed separately by plaintiff." (*Id.*, at 1165.)

Crippen was published over three and a half years before Mr. Sanchez purchased his vehicle. Car dealers were on notice that if they wanted to enter into valid arbitration agreements with their buyers, they could use a separate form rather than hiding the clause on the back of the contract. Petitioner, and the "thousands of small and medium size California businesses" who sell cars in this State, chose not to follow the legally permissible and fair procedure identified in *Crippen*, but instead chose to hide the clause on the back of the form contract and roll the dice. The Court of Appeal has now told car dealers they made the wrong choice. There is no reason for this Court to disrupt that ruling and resolve purported conflicts that do not exist.

D. There Is No Dispute Between the Appellate Courts to
 Resolve – Unconscionability and Severability Can Be
 Determined by the Appellate Court

As noted by the Court of Appeal, the issues of unconscionability and

severability are "typically" resolved by the trial court. (*Sanchez*, 2011 WL 5865694, at \*21.) Petitioner ignores the word "typically" and incorrectly concludes this is an ironclad rule. Rather, the correct conclusion is issues of severability are left for the trial court when there is room to apply discretion. In such situations, the case should be remanded so the trial court is given an opportunity to exercise its discretion.

When, however, there is only possible outcome as a matter of law, there is no discretion to apply. This is such a situation. It is not possible to cure the problems with Petitioner's arbitration clause by severance, making only one outcome possible under the law: a finding the clause is not enforceable. (Sanchez, 2011 WL 5865694, at \*21 (citing Armendariz v. Foundation Health Psychcare Services, Inc. (2000) 24 Cal.4th 83, 126).) When any other conclusion would be error, this Court has held (as cited by the Court of Appeal in its decision in this case), courts do not need to engage in the pointless exercise of remand, just to open up the possibility of an abuse of discretion. (Id., (citing Elisa B. v. Superior Court (2005) 37 Cal.4th 108, 122).) Rather, the Court of Appeal can apply the only outcome possible under the law. This approach has been utilized in other cases also not involving arbitration clauses. (See, e.g., First American Title Ins. Co. v. Superior Court (2007) 146 Cal. App. 4th 1564, 1576; Jones v. First American Title Ins. Co. (2003) 107 Cal.App.4th 381, 390.)

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